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Introduction


‘Right in we went with soul intent,
On Death and Dread and Doom.’


Oscar Wilde, The Ballad of Reading Gaol


In October 1920 the name of Terence MacSwiney entered into the annals of republican folklore when he died in Brixton Prison. What is not widely recalled is that two other prisoners, Michael Fitzgerald and Joseph Murphy, died on hunger strike in Cork Prison at the same time as MacSwiney. As Terence MacSwiney’s fast progressed, the world’s media followed and reported every twist and turn of events. For Fitzgerald and Murphy, their agony was played out in private, far away from the public eye and their deaths and sacrifice have been, for the most part, forgotten. Seán McCaughey is another hunger striker whose suffering is largely forgotten. He died in May 1946 after a hunger and thirst strike; out of sight and out of mind of the Irish government and public. Yet again, who can even dare to imagine the conditions under which Seán McCaughey lived for four years as he was denied basic human rights in a protest for political status? If it had not been for Seán MacBride, who gained an admission at McCaughey’s inquest that the prisoner had effectively been treated like a dog, the suffering of Seán McCaughey would have gone unremarked for future generations to contemplate. Sadly, history has a habit of being selective in its recall. The names of Ashe, MacSwiney and Sands are world renowned but, perhaps, it is time that the names of all those Irishmen who died on hunger strike were recorded in one book.


The history of hunger strikes in Ireland is one of struggle and indifference. When the island was partitioned the Civil War that broke out in the twenty-six counties showed that Irishmen could act in a most inhuman way against former comrades. In the midst of the murder, executions and incarcerations, three men were allowed to die when those in power displayed total indifference to their plight. Within the carnival of hatred that had gripped Ireland, it is not surprising that the names of Joseph Whitty, Denis Barry and Andrew O’Sullivan have been lost to collective folk memory. Seventeen years later further deaths of hunger strikers would also vanish into the historical ether. As the Second World War began the IRA was to receive no mercy from Éamon de Valera and his Minister for Justice, Gerald Boland, who seemed determined to destroy what was left of the organisation. In 1940 Jack McNeela and Tony Darcy would lose their lives on hunger strike; with media censorship in full flow throughout the twenty-six counties, both men’s deaths went widely unreported. The hierarchy of death in Irish history has been cruel to both men.


In the 1970s hunger striking again entered the political equation but it was not until the fast of 1981 that the protest reached its zenith. It is perhaps timely that the publication of this book coincides with the thirtieth anniversary of the 1981 hunger strike. The events that year, both inside and outside the Maze Prison, helped to shape the political reality that is the island of Ireland today. Indeed as I write this introduction, the results of the 2011 Irish election are still being digested, particularly the remarkable showing of Sinn Féin. The rise of Sinn Féin as a renewed electoral force can be traced back to the victory of Bobby Sands in Fermanagh and South Tyrone in April 1981. That fact is not disputed, but placing it within the broader picture of republican hunger striking is something that is slightly more onerous.


I hope that this book has in some small way put the record straight and placed each of the hunger strikers within the context of their times and their struggle.


Barry Flynn
March 2011





Chapter 1
A Game of Cat and Mouse


‘If the prisoners in Mountjoy are determined to commit suicide
by starving, they must be allowed to do so.’


George Bernard Shaw, Evening Post, 26 October 1912


The death of Michael Devine from Derry on hunger strike in the Maze Prison outside Belfast on 21 August 1981, strange as it might seem, may be linked to a simple act of vandalism seventy-two years earlier. Devine was the last of ten republican hunger strikers to die in a protest for political status during 1981, but it was an example set by a Scottish semi-aristocrat in Holloway Prison that arguably set in motion the sad and bitter history of republican hunger striking. On 22 June 1909 a female artist from Ayrshire in Scotland by the name of Marion Wallace-Dunlop visited St Stephen’s Hall in the Houses of Parliament at Westminster with the intention of lobbying her local MP on the subject of a Bill of Rights, due to be read in the Commons on 29 June. Accompanied by Victor Duval, an avid supporter of the concept of women’s suffrage, Wallace-Dunlop produced a rubber stamp and an ink pad in the marble hall and pressed a simple message onto wall, which read: ‘June 29. Bill of Rights: It is the right of all subjects to petition the King. All commitments and prosecutions for such petitioning are illegal.’ It was a simple act of publicity on behalf of the suffragettes that would have far-reaching consequences. Whilst she was trying to leave the palace, the Sergeant-at-Arms spotted the misdemeanour, apprehended Wallace-Dunlop and brought her to the office of the Commissioner of Works, where she was admonished but released.


Two days later the determined Scot returned in disguise to the scene of her original transgression to repeat the act, close to the statue of the Earl of Chatham. This time the authorities were not prepared to show leniency and the miscreant was arrested and brought before Mr Curtis Bennett, the magistrate at Bow Street Police Court, where she was charged with ‘wilfully damaging the stonework of St Stephen’s Hall, House of Commons, by stamping it with an indelible ink, doing damage to the value of ten shillings.’ Surprisingly, given the limited cost of the damage, the prosecution was very keen to impress upon the magistrate the ‘seriousness’ of the charge. They advised Mr Bennett that this had been the second such ‘outrage’ committed by the defendant and pointed out that, after cleaning, some of the imprint would still be visible on the marble wall. The following day Wallace-Dunlop was deemed guilty of ‘wilful damage’ but when she declined the opportunity to pay the fine she was sent to Holloway Prison for a month. She immediately applied to the Home Secretary, Herbert Gladstone, for treatment as a ‘first division’ prisoner, namely to be granted special status since she had been incarcerated for a political offence. She added, pointedly, that she would fast until this concession had been granted.


Marion Wallace-Dunlop thus became the first modern hunger striker and risked her life for recognition as a political prisoner. It was a principled stand and the gauntlet had been thrown down to a somewhat bewildered government. Its choice, however, was crystal clear: either permit Wallace-Dunlop to fast and die, thus becoming a martyr to the suffragette cause, or grant her special status. It was a game of risk that the government could not win. Faced with this newfangled and innovative form of protest, the government procrastinated for three days until it decided to free Wallace-Dunlop. It was a climb-down that exposed the authorities as vulnerable when threatened by the prospect of a hunger strike. The euphoria caused within the women’s movement by Wallace-Dunlop’s triumph would inspire further protesters to copy her tactics, with similar success. The political and legal dilemma that hunger striking posed to the government was simple: permitting a prisoner under its care to starve to death would cause extreme embarrassment, create willing victims and leave the authorities open to a charge of criminal manslaughter. It was a conundrum that the government needed to address post-haste. Accordingly, other options, including deportation and the ‘sectioning’ of fasting suffragettes under the Mental Health Act, were considered as alternatives. However, when these options were ruled out, the authorities felt that they could no longer stand idly by. The solution was simple, yet also brutal, degrading, undignified and cruel. The government decided to address the issue of hunger striking by borrowing a method from lunatic asylums known as ‘artificial’ feeding (better known as force-feeding).


The first clash of wills between the government and the suffragettes in which force-feeding was applied came at Winston Green Prison in Birmingham in the autumn of 1909. The event that led to this was the suffragettes’ disruption of a visit to the city by Prime Minister Herbert Asquith, who spoke at Bingley Hall on 17 September. Six women, led by Mary Leigh and Charlotte Marsh, were arrested during the incident and subjected to force-feeding. Soon horrifying stories were leaked from the prison concerning the degrading treatment that the women were enduring. Brute force was used, as a number of wardens restrained the prisoner and bound her to a feeding chair. Most frequently the prisoner’s jaws were clamped open with a wooden block to enable the insertion of a rubber tube into the stomach, although the tube was sometimes pushed through the nose instead. When the prison doctor was satisfied that the tube was inserted correctly, a mixture of warm milk and raw eggs was poured into the victim’s stomach until she was considered ‘fed’. It was, to the prison authorities, a ‘medical procedure’ that would save the life of the prisoner. For the victim it was an act that bore similarities to institutionalised rape.


In the House of Commons on 28 September the former Labour leader and personal friend of Emmeline Pankhurst (a leader of the Suffragettes, along with her sister Christabel), Keir Hardie, raised the plight of the six women and labeled the practice as a ‘horrible outrage, beastly outrage’. The public was shocked that the women had been subjected to a violent process that the authorities referred to as an ‘operation’. Upon her release from Winston Prison, Mary Leigh provided an insight into what she and her colleagues had had to endure:




Held by the four wardresses the two-foot long tube was forced up my nostril by the doctor. The sensation of the tube’s progress up my nose and down my throat was very painful. The drums of my ears seemed to be at bursting point and there was a terrible pain in my throat and chest. They pushed nearly two feet of the tube into me. Then I was forced to lie down on the bed by the four wardresses and held there. The doctor then stood on a chair holding the funnel end of the tube above my head. He then started to pour a liquid mixture of milk and egg into the funnel. After a few moments, the doctor decided that the liquid wasn’t going down fast enough so he pinched my nostril with the tube in it and squeezed my throat, causing me even more pain. When they had finished, the doctor checked my heart and they all left.


Votes for Women, 1 October 1909





The act of force-feeding was truly appalling and took the government’s ‘duty of care’ to the extreme. In 1910 the American suffragette Lady Constance Lytton wrote candidly of her experiences in Wilton Jail in Liverpool, saying that being force-fed was ‘a living nightmare of pain, horror and revolting degradation’ (The New York Times, 30 January 1910). Whilst the decision to use force-feeding lay, in theory, with the Board of Governors of each prison, it was the government which stood indicted. For the prison authorities, and the government, the ‘operation’ was a ‘caring’ attempt to prevent a prisoner committing ‘suicide by starvation’ and it was therefore a necessary evil to be endured. To the public, it was perhaps a different matter.


Despite the public outcry the practice continued unabated, but the very public battle of hearts and minds had been won by the suffragette movement. The Asquith government, under Home Secretary Reginald McKenna, was aware of the limitations of the procedure and acted in April 1913 by introducing the Prisoners (Temporary Discharge for Ill Health) Act or, more famously, the ‘Cat and Mouse’ Act. In essence the practice of force-feeding suffragettes was to cease and, whilst they would be permitted to fast in prison, they would be released on licence when their lives were deemed to be in danger. It was a pragmatic solution, of sorts, that provided both sides with an opt-out clause. Most tellingly, it was a move that won back the moral high ground for the Liberal government. The horrific stories of force-feeding prisoners ceased with the temporary release of hunger strikers. The public battle was defused somewhat by the Act and, six months after its introduction, the Tory-leaning Daily Mail saw fit to report that ‘militant suffragettism is dead in England. It was killed by the one-time much derided Cat and Mouse bill’ (7 June 1913). The key to the success of the Act, according to the Daily Mail, was the fact that the element of ‘martyrdom’ had been taken out of the equation and the article continued:




There is now no martyrdom in force-feeding. If they [the suffragettes] refuse food they are allowed to go hungry until they are medically certified to be unfit for prison life. Release, convalescence and re-arrest on the recovery of health is the process, leaving no room for public demonstrations by the prisoner. It is a trial wherefrom the law emerges triumphant.





Whether the ‘Cat and Mouse’ Act was a strategic success is a cause of much debate. The suffragette movement, though, had its campaign curtailed significantly and nine months after its introduction the number of women embarking on the tactic of hunger striking had fallen by three-quarters. It seemed that by defusing the dramatic and often propagandist element of hunger striking, the government had played a tactical masterstroke.


Soon the tactics adopted to publicise the suffragette cause would become ever more extreme. The events of Derby Day in 1913 brought the issue back into the public domain in the most emphatic fashion. As the horses in the Derby passed Tattenham Corner, Emily Davison made her way on to the track and collided with King George V’s horse, Anmer. Davison, who had previously been released from prison under the ‘Cat and Mouse’ Act, would never regain consciousness and became the first true martyr to the suffragette cause. A friend of Davison and fellow campaigner Emily McGowen, said, ‘Miss Davison had always held the view that a woman’s life would have to be sacrificed before the women of this country get justice’ (The Daily Telegraph, 11 June 1913).


The death of Emily Davison was a horrific spectacle – and one that arguably backfired on the suffragette movement. Although the ‘Cat and Mouse’ Act had denied the suffragettes a martyr through the drama of a hunger strike, the death of Davison provided a ready-made and newly minted idol. Outside of the women’s rights movement the perception of Davison was different. In the days after her death Davison was described as a ‘lunatic’, a ‘zealot’ and a ‘fanatic’. The general public could not have been enamoured of her by her previous record of militancy: she had once been arrested for attacking a Baptist minister in Aberdeen in the mistaken belief that he was Lloyd George. Her funeral procession through London was a cause-célèbre, with thousands marching behind her coffin and militant banners prominent. One banner, using the famous words of the American revolutionary Patrick Henry, said, ‘Give me Liberty or give me Death’, while another stated (perhaps ironically), ‘He who loses his Life shall find it.’ It was evident that the mood among the suffragettes was one of honouring a martyr to its cause.


The fact remained, however, that had Davison died on hunger strike rather than in a violent accident, public perception of her death would probably have been more sympathetic. In truth, suffragette militancy was not popular among the masses and the death of Davison stirred revulsion, not compassion. Christabel Pankhurst incurred the wrath of the establishment when she said that Davison had ‘died for women’. She compounded this sentiment by adding that Herbert Jones, the King’s jockey who had been badly injured in the incident, had been ‘injured for women’. The poet Alfred Noyes, who had previously been sympathetic to the suffragette movement, described the militants as the ‘wild women of the Pankhurst contingent’. The New York Times was forthright in its condemnation of Pankhurst’s tactics when it said, ‘there is not a constructive idea in the heads of these malcontents. They seek only to destroy and have chiefly destroyed their own cause.’ Chancellor of the Exchequer, Lloyd George, whose house had previously been torched by suffragettes, summed up the feelings of the government when he said of Pankhurst, ‘Hasn’t she the sense to see that the very worst way of campaigning for the vote is to try and intimidate a man into giving them what he would gladly give otherwise?’ (Priestley, The Edwardians, p. 215).


The suffragette movement waned in importance as the Great War approached, yet their violent actions continued regardless. When war was eventually declared in August 1914, Emmeline Pankhurst showed her patriotic streak and advised suffragettes to desist from their campaign and support ‘in every way’ the government and the war effort. The declaration was pragmatic indeed, as soon the remaining prisoners were released from prison and fell in with the war effort.


On 19 June 1917 the Representation of the People Bill (Women’s Suffrage clause) was passed in the House of Commons by a landslide majority of 385 votes to 55. With hindsight it is clear that the ‘Cat and Mouse’ Act effectively curtailed the ability of the suffragette movement to use the weapon of hunger strike effectively. In reality it was inevitable that the votes for which they fought would be granted in due course. The tactic of hunger striking amid militancy forced the government to act against the movement in what was a very public battle. However, the use of the Act was seen as compassionate measure in the face of protest, particularly when it was protest organised by women. How the government would react to a hunger strike from an individual who was not English, female or upper-class had still to be determined.


*


Despite the more pressing issue of Home Rule, Ireland would not be exempt from suffragist agitation, or indeed hunger-striking. In July 1912 the Theatre Royal in Dublin was to be the venue for a keynote speech on the future of Ireland by Herbert Asquith. It was the first time that a serving Prime Minister had visited the island since the introduction of the Act of Union in 1801, and thousands lined the streets to witness his procession through Dublin. However, on the evening prior to his address, four Irish suffragettes, led by Gladys Evans, attempted to set fire to the Theatre Royal by pouring oil over the carpets and curtains, as well as placing gunpowder in a projector. Their plan failed and Evans was sentenced to five years imprisonment, immediately embarking on a hunger strike.


However, the drama of the attempted burning of the Theatre Royal was to be eclipsed the following evening when another suffragette, the aforementioned Mary Leigh, threw a hatchet into a carriage containing Asquith, Irish Parliamentary Party leader, John Redmond (whose party after December 1910 held the balance of power in the House of Commons), and the lord mayor of Dublin, Lorcan Sherlock. This reckless act occurred as the carriage made its way through the streets of Dublin and Redmond was slightly injured. In court Leigh was to claim that she had intended only to harm Asquith, but nonetheless she was given three months’ hard labour for her moment of madness. The meeting at the Theatre Royal went ahead regardless and Asquith was given a standing ovation when he assured the assembled audience that Home Rule for Ireland would be granted. Outside, the Dublin crowds took umbrage at a group of suffragettes and police officers had to intervene when a group attempted to throw some women into the River Liffey.


The drama then moved to Mountjoy Prison where Leigh joined Evans on hunger strike. The practice of force-feeding was utilised by the prison authorities who eventually relented 44 days later and released Leigh after she had collapsed. The Daily Mail was to comment, most colourfully, on Leigh that ‘her collapse was due to deliberate starvation, she having acquired the knack of ejecting food as soon as it was administered by means of a tube’ (20 September 1912). The hunger strike and subsequent force-feeding of Mary Evans lasted until 3 October, when she was released to convalesce.


The debate on the morality of hunger striking as a political weapon waged on as the battle of wills between the government and the suffragettes continued. In late September George Bernard Shaw added his own strong opinion to the mix when, referring to the hunger strikers in Mountjoy Prison, he wrote: ‘My conclusion, therefore, is that if the prisoners in Mountjoy are determined to commit suicide by starving, they must be allowed to do so, and that the government could not be held responsible for their deaths if it could convince the public that the prisoners had plenty of food within their reach.’


Not surprisingly, Bernard Shaw’s sentiments on letting the suffragettes die were not universally popular. Indeed, Christabel Pankhurst dismissed his views by adding that such opinions were ‘the most convincing vindication of militancy’. However, the practice of hunger striking continued. In all, between 1912 and August 1914 when the Great War broke out, a total of thirty-five women were sentenced in Ireland for incidents associated with women’s suffrage. Of these, twelve went on hunger strike, but only two, Evans and Leigh, were ever force-fed. In February 1913 four suffragettes, Margaret Cousins, Margaret Connery, Barbara Hoskins and Mabel Purser were sentenced to one month’s hard labour for their part in an incident at the Custom House in Dublin when several windows had been broken in a disturbance. On their arrival at Tullamore Prison, County Offaly, they demanded political status and when this was refused they began a hunger strike. After six days the prison authorities yielded to their demands for political prisoner status.


With the onset of the Dublin Lockout on 26 August 1913 the issue of hunger striking would again make an appearance on the Irish political scene. Spearheaded by Jim Larkin and James Connolly, the Irish Transport and General Workers’ Union began a titanic struggle against the employers who were led by the media baron, capitalist entrepreneur and conservative nationalist William Martin Murphy. It was a bitter battle that saw much hardship on the streets of Dublin as employees were locked out of their places of work, whilst cheap labour was sourced from Britain. On Saturday 31 August Jim Larkin addressed a meeting of striking workers in Beresford Place, Dublin, at which he burned publicly a proclamation prohibiting the holding of union meetings. It was at this meeting also that James Connolly made a speech in support of the strikes that saw him arrested and placed before the courts. Connolly refused to guarantee his own good behaviour and he was sent to Mountjoy Prison for a period of three months.


Connolly began a hunger strike on 7 September and when he began refusing liquids serious concerns began to circulate regarding his health. Connolly, though, was upbeat during his plight and wrote to his wife Lillie ‘do not fret’, while adding ‘many more than I, perhaps thousands, will have to go to prison before our freedom is won’ (Yeates, Lockout – Dublin 1913, p. 149). During his stay in Mountjoy Connolly was treated well and received visitors, letters and newspapers for the first three days of his fast. With the condition of Connolly worsening, the Lord Lieutenant for Ireland, Lord Aberdeen, received a union deputation led by William O’Brien demanding Connolly’s release. Given that the ‘Cat and Mouse’ Act was in operation, it was perhaps logical that Connolly and his supporters felt that Connolly’s release would be granted at the earliest opportunity. It was a conviction based on the potential for serious disorder in the streets should he die and the understanding that his life, as in the case of the suffragettes, would not be allowed to become a bargaining chip. On Saturday 13 September Connolly was granted his freedom courtesy of a signed declaration, which arrived at the prison via Lord Aberdeen’s official car. On his release, Connolly recuperated at the home of Constance Markievicz at Surrey Place in Rathmines.


The first death of the twentieth century in Ireland that could be attributed in part to hunger striking was that of Dún Laoghaire’s James Byrne, who died on 1 November 1913, having been released from prison after a hunger and thirst strike. Born in 1875, Byrne was the secretary of the Bray and Kingstown Trades Council and had been arrested on the alleged charge of intimidating a tram worker during the Dublin Lockout. Remanded to Mountjoy Prison, Byrne immediately commenced a hunger strike in a protest at not being granted bail. After three days, in an attempt to force his release, Byrne began to refuse water and, when his condition deteriorated significantly, he was released to await trial whilst recuperating. It was, however, only then that it was discovered that Byrne had contracted pneumonia in Mountjoy and he succumbed in Monkstown Hospital on 1 November. His funeral was attended by over 4,000 and it fell to James Connolly to deliver a bitter graveside oration to the assembled crowd. He told them that their comrade had been murdered as surely as any martyr in the long list of those who had suffered for the sacred cause of liberty. He added that Byrne had been ‘thrown into a cold, damp, mouldy cell’, but while in prison, so contemptuous had he been of those who put him there that he had refused food and drink; if their murdered comrade could send his fellow strikers a message, it would be to ‘get on with the fight for the sacred cause of liberty’, even if it brought them ‘hunger, misery, eviction and even death itself’, as it had done Byrne (cited in Yeates, Lockout – Dublin 1913, p. 374).


Byrne, with hindsight, is the forgotten martyr of Irish hunger striking. Whilst his death was due to pneumonia, it was the fact that his fast had weakened his body sufficiently that caused his untimely passing. His grave in Deansgrange Cemetery lay unmarked for many years until it was identified and on 1 November 2003, 90 years after his death, a memorial was erected to him on behalf of a number of Irish trade unions.


One strange case that displayed the ability of the prison authorities to indulge in clever mind games was reported in January 1914. Frank Moss was an organiser for the Irish Transport and General Workers’ Union who had been arrested and sentenced for disturbances connected with a strike in Swords, County Dublin. Following the example of James Connolly, he immediately started fasting in an attempt to win his freedom under the ‘Cat and Mouse’ Act. As his condition deteriorated he was removed from Mountjoy Prison to hospital and placed in an isolation cell. The cell contained the bare minimum of furniture, however, on the bedside table were placed two bottles of Guinness Double Extra stout, as well as a tumbler, some biscuits and a corkscrew. Moss was left alone and when the warder returned later he found the two bottles of stout empty and, accordingly, the fast had been broken. Temptation, it seems, had had the better of Frank Moss.


The question of ‘Votes for Women’, whilst stealing the political limelight, was secondary in importance to the Home Rule debate. As unionism geared itself for open rebellion, the Irish Question again came to prominence and the island braced itself for civil war. History, however, intervened and the progress of the Home Rule Bill was delayed as the Great War commenced. Thousands of nationalists and unionists immediately joined up in support of the British and their bravery amidst the carnage was seen as vital to the war effort. However, ‘England’s difficulty is Ireland’s opportunity’ is an old adage from Daniel O’Connell and the war afforded the more radical opponents of English rule an opportunity to mount their own rebellion.


Winston Churchill wrote famously that ‘as the mists of battle cleared, there arose from them the dreary spires of Fermanagh and Tyrone’ – meaning, of course, that as Great War ended, the problems of Ireland again came to the fore in British politics. He was correct and Irish republicanism was to be re-born during the aftermath of the Easter Rising in 1916. In reality it was not the rising itself that hardened Irish nationalist opinion against Britain; it was the management – or rather mismanagement – of the issues of prisons and prisoners by Britain that fomented further discontent. By 1917 the notion that Home Rule would solve the Irish Question was off the agenda. In essence, the parliamentary path to Home Rule was eclipsed by the ideal of physical force nationalism.


Despite being caught cold, there was to be no game of ‘cat and mouse’ played by the British hierarchy with the leaders of the Easter Rising. Whilst the actions of the rebels in 1916 were criticised by a majority of the Irish population, the tide turned in favour of the rebels when they were subjected to what William Gladstone once referred to as ‘wild justice of revenge’. The Catholic Primate of All Ireland, Cardinal Michael Logue, who was vehemently opposed to the Easter Rising, described it as ‘this foolish and pernicious insurrection’. However, in strangely prophetic words, the Cardinal suggested that in the aftermath of the rising, the ‘public authorities will muddle this, as sure as the sun shines.’ He was to be proved correct.


In essence, Ireland was put under martial law as the British sought to exert control and the reprisals began in earnest. Despite the fact that the rebels had fought in accordance with the accepted rules of warfare, it fell to General John Maxwell to determine how the insurgents would be dealt with when he arrived in Dublin on 28 April. Essentially, Maxwell assumed the role of supreme military governor, a grandiose title that rivalled that of a military dictator, and he determined that the rising was an act of treason in a time of war. He was given carte blanche to deal with the situation, but his actions created a chasm between the two countries that would never be bridged. Maxwell oversaw the wholesale arrest of 3,400 men and women, many of whom were merely suspects, of which 1,700 were deported to Britain where they were held in internment camps. The greatest mistake, however, was in the private court-martialling of 183 men, 90 of whom received the death sentence for their alleged part in the rising with Maxwell overseeing all the ‘trials’.


The policy that Maxwell imposed on Ireland showed how much Britain feared an insurrection at its back door. Granted, there was panic among the establishment that Germany could use the chaos in Ireland as a means to attack or infiltrate Britain, thus the reassertion of order on the island was essential at the time. However, there was a malicious overtone to the reaction that sowed the seeds of future conflict. The Irish Parliamentary Party MP John Dillon, who warned Britain that its policy would see the rebellion ‘drowned in a sea of blood’, was instrumental in having a vast majority of the death sentences commuted, but the leaders of the rising would not escape Maxwell’s wrath. Amid the ongoing carnage of the Great War, Britain exacted retribution on fifteen of the leaders of the rising. On 3 May Padraig Pearse, Thomas MacDonagh and Thomas Clarke were executed by firing squad and the following day Edward Daly, M Joseph Plunkett, Michael O’Hanrahan and Padraig Pearse’s brother William were all shot dead. The retribution continued and on 5 May John MacBride was put to death, while Constance Markievicz was given a reprieve and sentenced to life imprisonment. The deaths followed of Con Colbert and Sean Heuston, while de Valera’s sentence was commuted. Éamonn Ceannt and Michael Mallin were shot by firing squad in Kilmainham Prison on 8 May. The following day Tomás Ceannt (no relation to Éamonn) was executed in Cork Military Detention Centre for his part in the death of Head Constable William Rowe in Cork during Easter week, but his brother William was acquitted.


The ‘wild justice of revenge’ continued unabated with the deaths of James Connolly and Seán MacDiarmada on 12 May, but, by this stage, the actions of the military under Maxwell had turned Irish public opinion irrevocably against Britain. The iron fist had been used with avenging force on the rising and the situation had changed utterly. In what was akin to a diplomatic version of the slamming of the stable door after the horse had bolted, the military issued a statement justifying their actions to largely deaf Irish ears:




In view of the gravity of the rebellion and the connection to German intrigue and propaganda, and in view of the great loss of life and destruction of property resulting therefrom, the General Officer Commander-in-Chief has found it imperative to inflict the most severe sentence on the known organisers of this despicable uprising … It is hoped that these examples will be sufficient to act as a deterrent to intriguers and bring home to them that the murder of his Majesty’s subjects or other acts calculated to imperil the safety of the realm will not be tolerated.


Kiberd, 1916 Rebellion Handbook, p. 60





With Ireland under martial law, the administration at Dublin Castle was further weakened by the resignation of Lord Wimbourne, the Lord Lieutenant of Ireland, who had been criticised in some quarters for perceived inaction before and during the rising. On 12 May Prime Minister Herbert Asquith travelled to Dublin to seek clarification on the situation that had developed since the rising. Before he departed for Ireland, Asquith, in words that must have caused revulsion across the Irish Sea, paid tribute to Maxwell and his handling of the executions and said that ‘we have the greatest confidence in General Maxwell’s discretion to conduct delicate and difficult jurisdiction.’ However, in the midst of the Great War the arrival of Asquith in Dublin was unprecedented and an indication of the disquiet that had been felt at Maxwell’s handling of the executions.


Meanwhile the recriminations continued, with the editor of The Irish World, Robert E. Ford, labelling the execution of Padraig Pearse ‘a piece of base bestiality that will no doubt cause reprisals by the people of Ireland’. The Manchester Guardian went further and called the actions of Maxwell et al an ‘atrocity’, while Timothy Healy, the MP for Cork, claimed in the House of Commons that ‘we [the Irish people] are not going to stand here and see our people shot. We are not Prussia.’ The New York Times stated that the executions were a ‘proceeding of absolute stupidity’, while the Daily Chronicle pointed out astutely that, on top of the executions, Maxwell had made the ‘even more serious mistake of wholesale arrests in the southern provinces’. The situation created by Maxwell needed to be addressed and pressure grew on Britain to make a gesture towards the political prisoners incarcerated in British jails or prison camps. Far from quelling the rebellious nature of Irish republicanism, the reprisals had only reinvigorated those held in the prisons in their determination to finish the ‘business’ that began at Easter 1916.


In December 1916 David Lloyd George replaced Herbert Asquith as British Prime Minister. This change coincided with a new sense of optimism regarding a political settlement in Ireland. For the British the issue of the Irish prisoners in England and Wales presented an opportunity to display some goodwill that would help ease the antagonism of the nationalist population of Ireland. By Christmas Henry Duke, Chief Secretary for Ireland, was to advise the House of Commons that there existed on the island a ‘steady improvement’ and that he would be sympathetic to the early release of internees from a number of camps, most notably Frongoch in North Wales. These sentiments were expressed within the wider context of finding a political solution to the Irish Question when the Great War had ended. Accordingly, as a leap of political faith, Lloyd George made an enormous gesture by authorising the release of large numbers of internees and the closure of the Frongoch Camp.


With hindsight this act can be seen as a catalyst to further insurrection in Ireland. The notion that the revolutionary zeal of republicanism had been extinguished by incarceration and execution was an error. In the case of the Frongoch Camp, it would become known as Ollscoil na Réabhlóide, or the University of Revolution, such was the ability of internees to use their time to educate themselves in anticipation of re-entering the republican struggle after their release. Prominent among the 1,800 ex-internees of Frongoch were Éamon de Valera, Terence MacSwiney, Michael Collins and Arthur Griffith. Lloyd George was fully aware of the reputation of Frongoch as a centre for revolutionary thinking but the outcry over the terrible conditions in the camp may well have influenced his decision in 1916. However, history would dictate that the most fertile fields for the growth of republicanism throughout Ireland would be found in the fateful denouement of prison disputes.





Chapter 2
Thomas Ashe: Death by Force-feeding


‘If I die, I die in a good cause.’


Thomas Ashe, 1917


History has an uncanny habit of repeating itself, especially in Ireland. With hindsight 1917 and 1981 appear similar, since both years witnessed radical republican breakthroughs in electoral terms. Similarly, the political changes in both years coincided with a period of prison disputes that would see men die whilst on hunger strike, protesting against their designated status as common criminals. However, in reality this coincidence was perhaps pure chance, although the deaths of sitting members of the House of Commons, which would enable the emergence of republicanism through the ballot box, certainly provided an alternative dynamic to armed insurrection.


Thomas Ashe died on 25 September 1917. He was the victim of circumstance. Whilst Ashe did die while on hunger strike, his cause of death was heart failure with complications brought about by fluid in his lungs. The bottom line was that he died from the effects of force-feeding. In fact, the authorities were to shoulder the blame for Ashe’s death, since a prolonged inquest was turned into a damning indictment of British Government and the Catholic establishment in Dublin Castle. And the tide of public opinion turned even further against Britain in the wake of the public fallout following the death of Ashe.


Somewhere in the higher echelons, a decision was made to address a hunger strike by forty republican prisoners in September 1917 with the use of brutality and force-feeding. It backfired and Thomas Ashe died – his death a direct result of the combination of incompetence and ignorance that marked the authorities’ pig-headed determination to face down republican prisoners. What was evident, however, was that Irish society had changed utterly and those who sought to deny that fact were forced to face it with the death of Ashe.


Coinciding with the 1916 Christmas releases of the republican internees and prisoners by Prime Minister Lloyd George, the death was announced of the nationalist MP for North Roscommon, James Joseph O’Kelly. The resulting by-election presented a prime opportunity for republicanism to test the depth of feeling in nationalist Ireland in the aftermath of the Easter Rising. By the use of what was to be referred to as the ‘Reading Policy’ – so named because it was devised by republican prisoners in Reading Prison – the cause of republicanism would soon eclipse all the other nationalist parties. This strategy was simple in its logic, with Sinn Féin (or a candidate representing the party by proxy) partaking in elections to gain a mandate for its revolutionary stance. The bottom line was that the Irish Parliamentary Party (IPP), under John Redmond, was seen as lacking in dynamism and had brought its moderate political position as far as it could go. By testing public opinion through elections, militant republicanism sought democratic legitimacy to add to its revolutionary potential, thus undermining the accepted limitations of the nationalist Home Rule strategy.


Accordingly, the by-election for North Roscommon was set for 6 February 1917 and George Noble Plunkett was chosen to represent a wide and loose coalition of parties opposed to conscription and, more pointedly, to the Irish Parliamentary Party. Whilst not being considered the most prominent candidate, Plunkett, who had been made a Papal Count in 1877, was an art historian and director of the National Museum from 1907 until 1916. He was a scholarly character, a former follower of Parnell who had made a slow transformation to radical republicanism. His credentials were impeccable, given that he had three sons who fought during Easter week, with his son Joseph Mary (the most well-known of the trio) executed as one of the signatories of the proclamation. In May 1916 Count Plunkett was sent to Oxford Prison, at which point he had already been ostracised by ‘respectable’ Dublin society for his sympathetic and active support of the rebels. Plunkett’s campaign was fought with gusto with, and aided by, Michael Collins and the other released internees from Frongoch Internment Camp in Wales.


The canvassing and polling was carried out in treacherous conditions and became known as the ‘election of the snows’. In the end Plunkett, ‘the man for Ireland’, was victorious, out-polling the Nationalist T. J. Devine by 3,022 votes to 1,708. The Irish Parliamentary Party was rocked by the result but Devine’s manager chose to blame the bad weather for the poor turnout of the nationalist farming vote. However, he added that Devine ‘was a local man who was not personally popular’, which was far from a glowing endorsement of his own candidate. In his victory speech Plunkett was forthright on his political position: ‘My place henceforth will be beside you in your own country for it is in Ireland, with the people of Ireland, that the battle for Irish liberty will be fought. I recognize no Parliament in existence as having a right over the people of Ireland, just as I deny the right of England to one inch of the soil of Ireland’ (An Phoblacht, 3 March 2005)


The second by-election that saw Sinn Féin’s rise to prominence occurred in South Longford where Joe McGuinness, who was serving three years in Lewes Prison for his part in the Rising, was elected on a republican ticket on 10 May. The election was fought on the simple logic of ‘Put him in to get him out. Joe McGuinness, the man in jail for Ireland.’ By standing a serving prisoner as a candidate, republicans were taking an enormous risk since a defeat could have been a fatal blow. However, in a closely fought contest, McGuinness was victorious over the Nationalist Patrick McKenna by 37 votes. The result was to signal mass celebrations in many parts of Ireland and in Mullingar, County Westmeath, a coffin was paraded through the streets bearing the words: ‘The Irish Party died in Longford, 10th May, 1917. RIP.’ A meeting was held at the Market House, and one of the speakers declared that John Redmond’s day was done in Ireland. The Daily Telegraph in London commented that ‘there is talk of a petition against McGuinness but the situation is in any case grave’, while The Irish Times’ correspondent said of the result that ‘Partition is dead, agreement is the alternative to coercion.’


On his release from Pentonville Prison in London, Éamon de Valera was told that he was to be the republican candidate for a by-election in the constituency of East Clare. The by-election was scheduled for 10 July and was caused by the violent death in Flanders of John Redmond’s brother, William, who had been a major in the Royal Irish Rifles. Republicans sensed that the mood had changed in Ireland and that the revolutionary alternative offered to the electorate had mass appeal. The choice of de Valera was an ace in the pack, given his prominence and reputation as a hard-liner. His opponent was to be Patrick Lynch, a prominent King’s Counsel, who it was felt might benefit from a sympathy vote after the death of William Redmond. It was a fierce contest with personal attacks galore, particularly the following assault, which was published in a republican leaflet: ‘Are you giving Patrick Lynch the vote? He’s fat with English pay / For he sat at home in comfort, when de Valera was away.’


The result, when it was announced, was a sensation, with de Valera a victorious 3,000 votes ahead of the Nationalist Lynch. There were wild scenes of celebration in Ennis as the old order had been routed by a party that was confident and emboldened by its emphatic mandate. The Daily Chronicle (12 July 1917) commented on de Valera’s victory, saying, ‘it is a hare-brained gesture of inconsequential destructiveness which makes Englishmen almost despair at Ireland’s political future.’ In essence, the personal tragedy of his brother’s death was to be compounded for Redmond by the political demise of his party and Home Rule. Suffering as he was from ill health, he would never recover from the double body blow as the truth dawned that no seat beyond Dublin or Ulster was immune to the growth of Sinn Féin.


With support for the new republican policy now unstoppable, the concept of Home Rule lay in tatters. Inevitably, the British Government attempted to shore up support for the waning Nationalist Party, but it was too little, too late. In May 1917 the British Prime Minister David Lloyd George wrote to John Redmond, the leader of the Irish Parliamentary Party, in response to his suggestion that an Irish Constitutional Convention be set up. With the Great War at its height, any initiative that could assist Lloyd George in pacifying Ireland in the interim was welcomed and the premier was enthused at the prospect: ‘Would it not be too much to hope that Irishmen of all creeds and parties might meet in convention which will secure a just balance of all opposing interests which will finally compose the unhappy discords which so long have distracted Ireland and impeded harmonious development?’ (Letter from Lloyd George to John Redmond (16 May 1917), given in an appendix to The Report of the Proceedings of the Irish Convention, presented to the House of Commons, 18 April 1918).


For John Redmond the Irish Convention was a last proverbial throw of the political dice. Home Rule as a solution to Ireland’s quarrel was waning in significance and the political situation had moved on significantly since 1916. The growth of Sinn Féin, together with the rise of John Dillon within the IPP, had reduced the importance of Redmond within political circles. In fact, the notion of setting up the Convention was to be Redmond’s swansong, given that his health continued to deteriorate and he would die in May 1918 of heart failure.


When the news of the initiative broke, Sinn Féin leader Arthur Griffith made the release of the republican prisoners a precondition to his party’s participation in the Convention. In late May a hunger strike commenced at Lewes Prison, which led to concessions to republicans – however, optimism was the order of the day in London and soon it was rumoured that a general amnesty would be granted to the remaining republican prisoners as an act of goodwill. Accordingly, in the House of Commons on 15 June, the then Chancellor of the Exchequer, Andrew Bonar Law, announced that the government was satisfied that public security would not be compromised and that the remaining republican prisoners would be freed. Acknowledging that the handling of the prison disputes had been something that had caused much consternation, Bonar Law added that ‘the government has decided therefore to remove the one cause by which serious misunderstanding had been inspired’. In essence, it can be argued that the government, in light of the perceived improvement in the situation in Ireland, was prepared to take a massive leap of faith. Within the establishment there was a body of opinion that felt that keeping the prisoners incarcerated was counter-productive. The disaster of the revengeful tactics of Maxwell in the wake of the Rising still stirred anti-English feeling in Ireland. The New York Times commented astutely when the news of the releases became public: ‘England may well have released a boomerang.’


The Convention, which consisted of fifty-nine members, met for the first time at Trinity College Dublin on 25 July 1917. Chaired by County Meath-born unionist Horace Plunkett, a first cousin of Count George Plunkett, it would meet periodically until March 1918 throughout Ireland, but it was a mere talking shop that failed to appreciate the new political reality. Sinn Féin, despite the release of the prisoners, boycotted the Convention in protest at its terms of reference, which foresaw a solution to the Irish Question only within the British Empire. Also, given the new political reality, the party was still only offered 5 seats out of a membership of 101, with every member having to be ‘approved’ by Lloyd George. In the background, however, the political battle between Home Rule Nationalism and Sinn Féin had moved in favour of the republicans, and the Convention was seen as somewhat dead in the water. Sinn Féin was a party in the ascendancy and chose to ignore the Convention as irrelevant. Accordingly, by the summer of 1917 a political vacuum existed throughout Ireland. Into that vacuum would burst a new, if sadly familiar, drama: once more prison disputes, tragic death and political martyrdom would further sap Britain’s will to stay in Ireland.


*


On 25 September 1917 Thomas Ashe claimed a place for himself in the annals of Irish history when he died in the Mater Hospital, Dublin, while on hunger strike. His death caused shock waves across the island and the bitter recriminations that followed only deepened further the chasm between republicanism and the authorities in Dublin Castle. The inquest into Tom Ashe’s death became a prolonged and bitter exposition of the prison regime in Ireland, and the determination of the authorities to face down a hunger strike by stubborn force. His death would ultimately reinvigorate anti-British feeling and prove that hearts and minds could be won by passive struggle against an enemy that was deemed cold and indifferent.


Thomas Ashe was 32-years-old when he died. He was born in Kinard near Dingle, in County Kerry, and was the seventh child of Gregory and Ellen Ashe. In 1905 Ashe enrolled at the De La Salle Training College in Waterford where he undertook a teacher-training course and immersed himself in Irish language and culture, becoming a member of the Gaelic League. On graduating, he was appointed as the principal of Corduff National School in Lusk, County Dublin, where he became involved with the Irish Volunteers. Ashe was also deeply involved in sporting activities in the north County Dublin area and was instrumental in forming the Black Ravens Pipe Band.


By Easter 1916 Ashe had become the Commandant of the 5th Battalion of the Irish Volunteers based in Fingal. During the Rising his battalion made strategic raids across north Dublin, capturing arms and destroying communications equipment and cutting the railway line between Dublin and Dundalk. The most notable incident, however, came at the Battle of Ashbourne, which was considered to have been one of the few successes of the Easter Rising. Under the command of Ashe an attack was mounted on the Royal Irish Constabulary (RIC) barracks in Ashbourne, County Meath, where, despite being heavily outnumbered, the battalion were able to force the police to withdraw and the barracks were taken. After the Rising Ashe was captured and sentenced to death. This was commuted to penal servitude for life and he served time in both Dartmoor and Lewes prisons. Ashe was to benefit from the general amnesty declared in June 1917 and returned to west Kerry to a hero’s welcome. His time in prison had only served to reignite his revolutionary zeal and he was soon immersed in revolutionary politics.


Ashe had succeeded Padraig Pearse as President of the Irish Republican Brotherhood (IRB) and his position was to bring him under close scrutiny from the British authorities. On 25 July Ashe made what was described as a ‘seditious speech’ at Ballinalea in County Longford. He was soon arrested in Dublin and was, under the Defence of the Realm Act, court-martialled on 4 September in Dublin Castle.


At the court martial Constable Thomas Bowers stated that he had witnessed the meeting in Ballinalea and that Ashe had told the crowd to form literary and military societies, to train, arm, and equip themselves. Ashe was permitted to cross-examine Bowers about his verbatim recollection of events, to which he responded that he had taken a mental note of the speech and afterwards had written it out. It was evident that Ashe was fighting a losing battle and he was sentenced to a year’s imprisonment with hard labour and transferred to Mountjoy Prison. There Ashe was advised that he would be treated as an ordinary prisoner with no special status. He and the other republican prisoners initiated a policy of non-cooperation with the authorities and this soon escalated into a hunger strike. Outside the prison walls pressure was mounted to secure the release of the strikers and soon the authorities moved Ashe and some others for treatment to the Mater Hospital. On 25 September Thomas Ashe died. The full story of what had occurred in the week leading to his death would never be revealed. His inquest gave a tantalising flavour, however, of what had taken place, and at its close the authorities stood undeniably accused of brutality and responsibility for the death, thanks to the skill of the Ashe family barrister, Timothy Healy.


The funeral was organised by the IRB and was, perhaps, the greatest show of republican strength seen in Ireland since the Easter Rising. Scenes in the city on the return of Ashe’s body to Dublin City Hall were described as ‘without parallel’ (The Daily Telegraph, 29 September 1917), outstripping the emotion that possessed the city on the burial of O’Donovan Rossa or Parnell in 1891. There was one long, seemingly unending procession passing through the City Hall to view the remains. Given the massive show of emotion, the authorities in Dublin Castle ordered the military to keep their distance and clashes were avoided in the streets. At Amien Street a crowd of suffragettes marched on the home of Doctor Lowe who had been implicated in the force-feeding of Ashe and were only dispersed when a crowd of constables arrived.
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